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Chairman’s welcome
I am very proud to welcome you to this annual 
review, looking back over another excellent year for 
Manchester Foundation Trust Charity and its amazing 
contribution to our hospitals, patients and staff.  
A huge thank you goes to everyone involved in 
helping us to support the outstanding treatment, care 
and research that our hospitals and community services 
provide. We are also very grate3ful to our Charity team 
and to our fundraising board – led by Maurice Watkins 
CBE – for all the excellent work they do. 

During 2019/20, the Charity’s income from fundraising and 
investment returns was £8.37m, and we spent £6.33m on 
making a difference to the lives of patients and their families. 
From providing extra wheelchairs for our youngest patients 
to purchasing specialist medical equipment and improving 
ward environments, we make sure every penny raised makes 
a difference to the millions of children and adults who use 
our services.

Alongside funding state-of-the-art equipment and facilities, 
our Charity provided £0.87m (as part of £4.1m allocated 
over five years from 2016/17 to 2020/21) to support research 
and innovation. This included investing in the researcher 
leaders of the future at the start of their careers, and in 
pioneering work to transform scientific breakthroughs into 
diagnostic tests and life-saving treatments. Charity support 
also contributed to setting up and running research studies, 
with 20,444 patients taking part during 2019/20.

Special thanks go to everyone who has supported the 
iMRI Scanner Appeal to raise £4m to revolutionise care for 
children requiring complex brain surgery at Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital. I was also very pleased to take part in the 
‘breaking of the ground’ celebration to mark construction 
work progress on the Helipad at our Oxford Road site, 
serving Manchester Royal Infirmary, Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital and Saint Mary’s.

Progress on building the Helipad was temporarily halted 
in March 2020, along with so many other activities, as 
the coronavirus pandemic led to the country going into 
lockdown. I would like to express my huge admiration for 
all our staff at MFT for their magnificent response to this 
unprecedented situation. Caring for all our patients with skill 
and compassion has remained the top priority. 

Everyone at MFT was also enormously grateful for the 
support shown by our patients and their families, fundraisers, 
businesses and the wider public. Together, they donated over 
£1.5 million worth of hot meals, other food and beverages 
plus flowers, skincare products and treats to help our hard-
working staff during a very challenging time. 

Our Charity team did an outstanding job in harnessing all 
this goodwill, accepting the massive volume of donations 
and distributing 25,000 staff wellbeing packs, almost 90,000 
individual treats and 66,000 meals across MFT. We also 
launched a special appeal called #ThankyouTeamMFT to 
enable people to donate to the Charity to provide ongoing 
staff well-being support, training and development over the 
coming months.

Looking ahead, all charities will face challenges as 
fundraising events are postponed and social distancing 
continues to have an impact. At MFT, we are fortunate to 
be able to rely on the amazing commitment of the many 
individuals, groups, companies and charitable trusts who 
support our hospitals. Thank you again for all you do  
and your continuing support will be even more vital  
in the future.
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Our aims
The role of the Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust Charity is summed up in its 
governing document: funds are used “for any 
charitable purpose or purposes relating to hospital 
services (including research) or to any part of the 
National Health Service associated with any hospital.” 

The main priority for the Charity is to enhance what is 
already provided by the NHS, ensuring continued excellence 
in treatment, research and care by supporting:

• State-of-the-art equipment for better  
diagnosis and treatment 

• Innovative research to improve our  
understanding of illness 

• The creation of less clinical and more patient  
friendly environments across our hospitals

The Charity makes grants which benefit the hospitals, 
community services, patients, visitors and staff of the Trust. 
The hospitals are Manchester Royal Infirmary, Wythenshawe 
Hospital, Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital, Manchester 
Royal Eye Hospital, Saint Mary’s Hospital, University Dental 
Hospital of Manchester, Withington Community Hospital, 
Trafford General Hospital and Altrincham Hospital. The 
Trust also manages North Manchester General Hospital 
under an interim management agreement ahead of 
formally acquiring it. The Trustee has invested money with 
the aim of enhancing the environment including supporting 
art projects throughout the hospitals.

The section of the public which benefits from our work 
is mainly the patients, service users, staff and visitors in 
our hospitals and community services but further public 
benefit can be demonstrated from the results of research 
undertaken and supported by the Charity. Education for 
staff and patients is regularly funded through the Charity 
and is another example of resources spent for the ultimate 
benefit of a significant section of the general public. 

The principal purpose of the NHS is to deliver services to 
patients, and so use of the charitable funds is focused on 
enhancing the experience over and above what the NHS 
would normally provide to patients, their families and 
friends and the wider community. The Trust’s aim is to 
provide all patients, visitors and staff with a quality service 
that meets the highest professional standards, while also 
respecting and responding to their individual needs. We 
want to be innovative in the treatment we provide and the 
environment we create.

By working in close partnership with the Trust, the 
Charity can prioritise and ensure funding is allocated to 
areas where it can make a real difference to the care and 
treatment of patients across our family of ten hospitals.

Setting and achieving our  
fundraising objectives
The Charity supports all our hospitals & community 
services by raising funds for projects put forward each 
year by various departments and wards. The Charity 
receives information on the projects via a Charity 
application form. The application is signed off by the 
Divisional Director of the hospital, confirming that 
it is a divisional priority. It is then forwarded to the 
Charity team for consideration together with Finance, 
Procurement and Estates teams. 

Dependent on the value of funding requested, the 
Charity applies an agreed set of criteria when shortlisting 
applications. The final outcome is a list of projects that 
the Charity will fundraise for in a given financial year, the 
12-month period between April and the following March. 

In 2019/20 the Charity received a total of 38 project requests 
for fundraising support, from across the Trust’s family of 
hospitals, contributing to the overall objectives of the Charity 
outlined above. Examples of these projects include:

• Secure video messaging systems for parents of critically 
ill or injured children at Royal Manchester Children’s 
Hospital

• Enhancing the patient environment at Withington 
Community’s Hospital’s Cataract Centre

• Provision of resources for Therapeutic Activity 
Coordinators for patients with dementia and cognitive 
impairment at Manchester Royal Infirmary

• Bed systems for critically ill or injured patients at Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital

• Enhancing the environment of the Neonatal Unit at 
Wythenshawe Hospital

• Bespoke wayfinding systems to meet all visual needs at 
Manchester Royal Eye Hospital

• Provision of specialist children’s entertainers for 
patients at Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital

Grant making policy
The Trust Board approves the scheme of delegation against 
which the managers and officers of the Trust may approve 
grants. All grants in excess of £100,000 are approved 
directly by the Charitable Funds Committee. Governance 
arrangements are covered in more detail on pages 20 to 23.

Core activities 
The expenditure on Charitable Activities in 2019/20 was 
allocated in the following ways:

Research
27% towards research 
programmes and research 
salary costs.

Patient related 
expenditure
15% helped to deliver 
improvements to the 
patient experience.

Staff related 
expenditure
22% was contributed,  
with a significant proportion 
spent on training and 
education.

The remaining expenditure balance was spent on 
fundraising, administration and complying with regulatory 
requirements. 2019/20 was the second year of a three-year 
investment by the Charity to increase income by 62% by 
2020/21. Initially this investment will reflect an increase in 
the cost ratio for the Charity, but as seen in previous years 
this will decline throughout the investment period and is 
expected to reduce through years two and three. 

Contributions to 
hospital capital 
expenditure
Amounted to 36% 
of total expenditure – 
16% was spent on the 
purchase of medical 
and IT equipment, and 
contributions to Trust-wide 
refurbishments were 20%. 
The capital expenditure 
was all spent on improving 
equipment and the patient 
environment. 

27%

22%

15%

36%
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July 2019
We had another fantastic Be Seen in Green day in 
July with many supporters, staff and patients getting 
their green on in support of Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital! Many wards and departments 
also took on the challenge of turning their wards 
green, with Ward 78 winning our Most Green Ward 
Award. Thanks to all the schools, companies and 
communities that took part, and to Ryman who 
kindly supported the event. 

Well done to seven-year-old Isabelle Gibson, who climbed 
Scafell Pike to raise funds for Manchester Royal Eye 
Hospital. Isabelle climbed the 3,200ft peak to say thank 
you for all the treatment she has had since being 
diagnosed with a rare eye condition when she was 
four years old. By taking on the challenge, Isabelle 
succeeded in raising over £2,000!

Joel Turner and six friends took on a mammoth cycling 
challenge to say thank you for the care that Joel’s 
son received at the hospital to remove a tumour that 
thankfully turned out to be benign. The cycling crew 
set off from Barcelona and cycled through stifling heat 
and steep mountains to cross the finish line at Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital 17 days later. They raised 
a staggering £10,718.

The Charity also had another reason to celebrate as 
we received the news that we had won the coveted 
Fundraising Charity of the Year Award at the Institute  
of Fundraising’s National Fundraising Awards  
ceremony in London! 

August 2019
The Beach Buggies made their annual trip to Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital to help put a smile on 
patients’ faces. 23 buggies joined us at the hospital 
with young patients being given the chance to sit in 
the buggies before being taken for a spin around the 
hospital campus. 

The following day they headed to the Volkswagen  
North West show at Cheshire’s Tatton Park, with the 
weekend’s activities raising a fantastic £2,740 for the 
children’s hospital. 

 
Celebrating  
your support
April 2019
The running season set off at pace with 115 runners taking 
part in the Manchester Marathon raising £20,385 in support of our 
hospitals. We also had runners taking on the prestigious London 
Marathon, raising over £13,000 in the process. 

Manchester insurance company 1st Central undertook a four-day coast 
to coast cycling challenge. Nine members of staff took on the 166-mile 
cycle from Southport to Hornsea, raising £6,939.46 for Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital.

May 2019
May saw the return of our annual Teddy Toddle, in 
which we encourage nurseries and pre-schools to 
support Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital by 
taking part in a short-sponsored walk. Kinderview 
Day Nursery in Glossop won our special prize 
draw and was treated to a visit from Channel 5’s 
Milkshake! presenter, Olivia Birchenough, on the 
day of their Toddle. Olivia joined in their walk and 
entertained the children by reading them a story!

Over 440 runners hit the streets of Manchester for the 
2019 Great Manchester Run in support of our family 
of hospitals. We also had 77 runners complete the half 
marathon distance and we were delighted to cheer on 
almost 100 youngsters in the Mini and Junior versions of 
the event. It was fantastic to also see over 650 Manchester 
Foundation Trust staff take on the challenge – all in NHS 
blue – joining in the fun as part of the unique Team MFT 
blue wave. Together the fantastic efforts of all of our 
runners raised a staggering £152,942! Thank you to 
everyone that took part. 

Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital Charity was delighted 
to be a beneficiary of the 2019 Tour de Manc cycling 
challenge. With four distances available riders took to their 
saddles to complete the epic challenge and helped us make 
a difference raising £5,000 for the Children’s Hospital.  

The team at The Manchester Adult Cystic Fibrosis Unit at 
Wythenshawe Hospital wanted to test themselves in honour 
of the patients they treat, for whom every day can be a 
struggle. They succeeded in scaling Pen-y-ghent, Whernside 
and Ingleborough within a 12 hour time limit, and 
through their challenge have raised over £1,400  
for the unit.

Goldborne-based Syncro Fire and Security visited the 
Children’s Hospital to present the proceeds of their 
fantastic year of fundraising. The company supported 
us by organising lots of activities including a black-
tie event at Leigh Sports Village and a family fun day. 
They raised a magnificent £6,811.

June 2019
June saw the return of Humphrey’s Heroes at a new 
venue for 2019 - Manchester Oxford Road’s Crowne 
Plaza. Across two days over 70 people risked the 
ropes to scale down the 19-storey hotel block. Many 
of our abseilers dressed the part, turning up in an 
amazing mix of superhero outfits, and we were 
delighted to be joined by Hollyoaks star Ashley 
Taylor-Dawson, Coronation Street’s Tina O’Brien and 
Tin Star actor Ian Puleston-Davies who all took on  
the challenge!

Also in June, 41 members of staff from Wythenshawe’s 
Maternity Unit decided to tackle the Yorkshire Three Peaks. 
They scaled Pen-y-ghent, Whernside and Ingleborough to 
raise an impressive £2,737 for the unit. 

June also saw the beginning of construction work on the 
new state-of-the-art, £3.9 million Helipad on the Trust’s 
Oxford Road Campus. The new helicopter landing site, 
being built on the roof of Grafton Street car park will 
enable critically ill or injured babies, children and adults to 
be airlifted straight to four of our MFT 
hospitals in order to receive the life-
saving and life-changing care they need. 
The landing pad will connect to our 
hospitals via a purpose-built link bridge.



8 9

 
Celebrating  
your support
September 2019
In September we celebrated Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital’s 10th birthday in style at our 
spectacular ball in aid of the iMRI Scanner Appeal.  
The star-studded event at Principal Manchester was 
hosted by BBC Radio 2 DJ Sara Cox, while BBC Sport 
presenter Hugh Ferris took charge of the auction  
with some amazing prizes up for grabs. On the  
night, guests were entertained with fantastic 
performances from The Swan Band and  
boyband super group Boyzlife.

The birthday ball, sponsored by Manchester-based digital 
and cloud experts ANS, and hospitality sponsor Peninsula, 
raised a staggering £388,825. 

September also saw 55 brave supporters take to the skies 
at our charity skydive at Black Knights Parachute Centre 
in Cockerham. They raised over £15,000 in support of our 
family of hospitals. 

David Brayshaw raised a wonderful £2,995 for Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital in memory of his good 
friend Neil Bowler. Neil and David had planned to take on 
the epic challenge of cycling Mont Ventoux, a well-known 
peak on the Tour de France route, but Neil sadly passed 
before they were able to take on the challenge. David 
decided to carry on and take on the Mont Ventoux ride as 
a fitting tribute to his friend and managed to complete his 
challenge in an incredible 1 hour and 41 minutes. Money 
raised by David has supported projects in the hospital.

Thanks to a kind donation from Medacs Healthcare, 
children at Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital are now 
arriving to surgery in remote controlled Mercedes vehicles. 
Patients can drive the miniature electric cars, complete with 
headlights, gear sticks and realistic engine revs all the way 
to theatre helping to distract them from the journey to 
theatre by making the experience fun! 

October 2019
220 runners took part in the popular Wiggle 
Manchester Half Marathon with participants choosing 
to support many of our family of hospitals. Together 
they raised an amazing £33,000! 

Carly Sherratt organised a fundraising ball in recognition of 
the life-saving care her father Christopher received at the 
Heart Centre within Manchester Royal Infirmary. 
Members of the Heart Centre team, including 
Consultant Cardiologist Cara Hendry, were 
delighted to accept a cheque from the  
ball for £2,201.50. 

John Ormerod and Frances Du-val took on a bike ride in 
support of the North West Lung Centre at Wythenshawe 
Hospital, supported by John’s wife, Sue. They were signed 
up to do an organised ride which was cancelled due to  
bad weather… so they decided to take on their own  
ride anyway. They raised £130 for the centre with  
their super challenge. 

November 2019
In November we held our very first Forever in Our 
Hearts walk at Heaton Park. We had 100 people 
join us on a pleasant autumnal day to complete the 
5km walk in memory of a loved one close to our 
participants’ hearts. The event raised a staggering 
£10,000 in support of our family of hospitals.

We also held our third Lantern Walk, in support of Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital, on the same day. 641 
people joined us to complete the twilight sponsored 
walk in the beautiful surroundings of Heaton Park. Many 
participants chose to wear fancy dress all helping to raise  
a staggering £31,164. 

St Peter’s Toddler Group donated an amazing £10,300 to 
the Neonatal Unit at Wythenshawe Hospital. The group 
is made up of volunteer mums who organise a twice-
yearly sale of new or good-as-new baby clothes, toys and 
equipment at St Peter’s Assembly Rooms in Hale. 

John Sowden, Trustee of the Emily Ffion Trust, visited the 
specialist North West and North Wales Paediatric Transport 
Service (NWTS) to see the equipment their donation of 
£28,045 had helped to buy. John was shown equipment 
the Trust’s donation had provided to aid young patients 
requiring intensive care support during transfer from one 
hospital to another.

 

December 2019
Glamour and Christmas united for our annual Sparkle 
in the City event, which was held at the Principal 
Hotel in Manchester. Hosted by Coronation Street 
stars Simon Gregson and Antony Cotton, the event 
also saw a special performance from Max George of 
The Wanted and a DJ set from Clint Boon. 

The glittery lunch which included a champagne reception 
sponsored by Peninsula, along with an exclusive Selfridges 
fashion show, an auction, boutique raffle and a draw to 
win a £2,500 diamond necklace, raised a fabulous £40,000. 
Money raised has supported projects which enable burn-
injured children to attend an annual burns camp to support 
their rehabilitation and increase their self-confidence. 

Christmas festivities continued with 3,000 people taking 
part in our annual Christmas Jumper Day. From Santa 
sweatshirts to jingle bell jumpers, the day raised £4,500.

Carols in the City was once again a huge success with nearly 
one thousand people gathering at Manchester Cathedral. 
Hosted by patron John Thomson, the evening saw choirs 
from Manchester Grammar School Thursday Singers, 
Manchester High School for Girls and Little Belters all give 
stunning performances. West Winds band also performed.

The event, sponsored by Unilever, was opened by Canon 
Marcia Wall, with readings and speeches from Her Majesty’s 
Lord-Lieutenant of Greater Manchester Mr Warren Smith, 
chairman of the Charity’s Fundraising Board Maurice 
Watkins CBE and the charity’s fundraising board member 
Amit Ruia and his daughter Ishika, who spoke about their 
personal experience of the children’s hospital. The fabulous 
festive evening raised a fantastic £10,104.

The Children’s Hospital and Starlight Unit at Wythenshawe 
were also delighted to receive visits from a number of 
celebrities and sports clubs throughout December, including 
players from the Manchester United and Manchester City 
football squads, and some of our celebrity patrons. 

December wasn’t all about Christmas as Jo Hyde from the 
Cystic Fibrosis Unit at Wythenshawe Hospital decided to 
raise money for the unit in place of gifts from friends and 
family as she celebrated a special birthday. Jo raised an 
amazing £802.36.
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Celebrating  
your support

January 2020
In January we premiered our Every Child Counts  
film featuring renowned performance poet  
Tony Walsh, and co-starring patients, parents  
and staff from the Hospital.

The film celebrated ten years of Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital and the words used to narrate the 
footage were penned by the famous wordsmith. Tony 
visited the children’s hospital to give a live performance 
of the poem, which was inspired by poignant stories of 
patients, and their families, who owe their young lives to 
the expertise of the hospital’s medical teams and staff. 

Jo Webb and Mark Lawson, who own Lawson’s Auto, 
donated an amazing £715 to the Rainbow Room at Saint 
Mary’s Hospital, in memory of their grandson George.  
Jo and Mark were supported by Mike from Piston Brake 
4x4 who donated knitted teddies.

February 2020
Freddie’s Legacy has been raising funds for the 
Newborn Intensive Care Unit at Saint Mary’s Hospital 
in memory of their son Freddie since 2017. In February 
the Freddie’s Legacy team raised £6,657 for the unit 
by taking on the Yorkshire Three Peaks challenge, 
smashing their £5k target.

Britannia Movers International held a triathlon with a 
difference at their annual conference in Copenhagen. 
Participants had to complete a lap of a lake in a swan 
pedalo, followed by a 5k run and ending with a static 
bike ride in the hotel reception! They chose to support 
Manchester Royal Infirmary in memory of Malcolm Halley, 
owner of Britannia Bradshaw in Manchester, as a thank you 
for the support and care he received during his battle with 
leukaemia. They raised an amazing £2,500.

We were also joined by Stephen Lowe from The Stoller 
Charitable Trust, and Robert Bertram from the HELP Appeal, 
to celebrate the breaking of the ground for the new state-
of the-art Helipad. The Helipad has been funded thanks to 
our previous Time Saves Lives Helipad Appeal. Stephen and 
Robert were accompanied by MFT Chairman Kathy Cowell 
OBE DL, and Chair of the Charitable Fundraising Board 
Maurice Watkins CBE, to see progress on the construction 
project, with a visit to the roof of MFT’s Grafton Street Car 
Park where the Helipad will be situated.

We also celebrated our sporting heroes – those people who 
support our hospitals by taking on a sporting challenge 
– with a special event in February. More than 100 people 
attended, and guests were treated to motivational speeches 
from Jackie Groenen of Manchester United Women’s 
Squad, and Manchester fitness trainer Ric Moylan. 

March 2020
As the impact of Coronavirus was felt throughout  
the world we were overwhelmed with the level  
of support our hospital family received from  
across the country. 

The business community from across the UK rallied to help 
us by donating items such as snacks, drinks, toiletries and 
treats to enable the provision of wellbeing packs for the 
25,000 staff who work in our family of ten hospitals. 

We would like to extend our grateful thanks to all 
of our donors and supporters in the last year. It is 
only with your support that we are able to make a 
difference to our patients and families. 



12 13

 
How to  
support us
There are many ways in which people can support any one of our family of hospitals  
and community services, by giving their money, time or talent.

Making a donation 
To make a donation please visit mftcharity.org.uk/donate  
or call the fundraising team on 0161 276 4522.

Gifts in memory
Many thousands of pounds are donated each year to our 
hospitals in memory of patients who have died. The funds 
are used to improve facilities or buy equipment that will 
benefit our patients, so creating something very positive 
out of a sad personal loss.

Legacy support 
Legacy gifts provide the Charity with a valuable income 
source that can allow us to plan for the future and benefit 
as many patients as possible. A legacy can be left to a 
specialist area of work in accordance with the donor’s 
wishes – even the smallest legacy can have a lasting  
impact on our work across our family of hospitals and 
community services.

Gifts left to the Charity in a Will help us to fund vital work 
at our hospitals to ensure that we are continuing to make a 
difference and supporting excellence in treatment, research 
and care.

As a Charity we are dedicated to making things better and 
giving our patients the best experience possible, gifts in 
Wills allow us to take great strides towards achieving this. 

In the 2019/20 financial year we  
received £1.865m in legacy gifts.

Gift Aid
Last year we claimed thousands of pounds in Gift Aid. If 
you are a UK tax payer and make a simple declaration,  
for every £1 donated the Charity receives 25p of Gift Aid. 
In 2019/20 we were able to claim £439k in Gift Aid.

For information about Gift Aid, legacy donations and the 
many other ways you could support the hospitals, please 
call the Charity Office on 0161 276 4522.

A big thank you 
On behalf of the patients, their families and the staff 
who have benefited from the improved services and 
environment provided from donations and legacies, 
the Charity would like to thank patients, friends and 
relatives, staff, companies and other organisations 
that have supported us. You really have made a 
difference to our hospitals and community services.

  
Working together to  
make a difference
Charitable Trust activity  
over the last 12 months
Manchester Foundation Trust Charity has received a 
fantastic amount of support from charitable trusts 
across the country over the last twelve months. Here 
are some of the highlights of the incredible support 
that we’ve received. 

• Elliott’s Trust donated £8,000 in support of Ward 84  
at Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital. 

• The Emily Ffion Charitable Trust donated £28,045 
in support of the North West and Wales Paediatric 
Transport Service. This support helped to purchase a 
Hamilton Transport Ventilator and B:Braun  
Syringe Drivers. 

• Beaverbrooks gave the second instalment of  
their £75,000 pledge in support of the  
iMRI Scanner Appeal. 

• The True Colours Trust donated £20,000 as part of 
their Breathing Spaces campaign which will be used 
to refurbish the parents’ room on Ward 84 at the 
children’s hospital. 

• County Air Ambulance donated £250,000, the final 
instalment of their pledge to support the new Helipad 
on the Oxford Road Campus. 

• The Brabners Foundation donated £4,000 in support 
of the iMRI Scanner Appeal. 

• The Hospital Saturday Fund donated £2,000 towards a 
UVB Phototherapy Cabinet at Withington Hospital. 

• The Charity Service donated £4,949 to support a 
dementia project at Wythenshawe Hospital and to 
purchase handheld biofeedback machines for Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital. 

Volunteers
We are grateful to those from across the region 
who kindly give up their own time to help us – the 
hours donated by volunteers help to us make a huge 
difference to the services that we provide and the 
funds that we raise. 

In the past year, volunteers have helped us with 
administration in the Charity office, at events, and 
lent a hand with bucket collections at football clubs or 
supermarkets. We’d also like to thank our volunteer 
fundraisers who donate their time and their skills to  
help us make a difference by raising funds for our  
family of hospitals.

Celebrity support 
The Charity feels very privileged to receive the 
support of many celebrities who lend a hand by 
getting involved in events and campaigns, and help 
us to raise awareness of our cause. 

This year, our thanks go to Coronation Street stars 
Antony Cotton, Simon Gregson, Jennie McAlpine, Brooke 
Vincent and Tina O’Brien, Radio 2 broadcaster Sara Cox, 
Keith Duffy and Brian McFadden from boyband Boyzlife, 
BBC Sport presenter Hugh Ferris, actors Chris Bisson, 
Jason Done, Ashley Taylor-Dawson, George Sampson, 
Ian Puleston-Davies and John Thomson. We’d also like 
to thank Manchester City footballer Kevin De Bruyne, 
England Women’s coach Philip Neville and poet Tony Walsh. 
Thanks also to Hits Radio presenter Mike Toolan, children’s 
television presenter Olivia Birchenough, DJ Clint Boon and 
Real Housewives of Cheshire stars Tanya Bardsley and Dawn 
Ward. This year we also welcomed music stars Max and 
Harvey as official patrons.

We would also like to say thank you to the celebrities 
who shared birthday messages in support of Royal 
Manchester Children’s Hospital’s 10th birthday, including 
Jimmy Anderson, Lorna Bancroft, Olivia Birchenough, Faye 
Brookes, Wes Brown, Joe Cole, James Corden, Fearne 
Cotton, Jason Done, Elbow, Lucy Fallon, Hugh Ferris, 
Tommy Fleetwood, Phil Foden, Joe Gill, Chris Harris, Steph 
Houghton, Jessie Lingard, Samia & Sylvain Longchambon, 
Max & Harvey, Jennie McAlpine, Paddy McGuinness, Phil 
Neville, Tina O’Brien, Theo Paphitis, Ian Puleston-Davies, 
Romesh Ranganathan, Marcus Rashford, Jamie Redknapp, 
Samantha Renke, George Sampson, Robbie Savage, Peter 
Schmeichel, Jill Scott, Bernardo Silva, Mike Summerbee, 
Ashley Taylor-Dawson, John Thomson, Mike Toolan, 
Catherine Tyldesley, Brooke Vincent and Kyle Walker.

The Charity has also been fortunate enough to enjoy 
the support of both the men’s and women’s teams at 
Manchester City and Manchester United Football Clubs.

https://mftcharity.org.uk/donate/
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At the forefront of research  
and innovation
MFT’s vision includes being at the forefront of 
Research and Innovation (R&I) in healthcare – to lead 
in clinical improvements for patient care, stimulate 
major economic growth and prosperity for our local 
and regional community, and play a major role 
internationally in shaping the strategic future of R&I. 

Working with our partners across Greater Manchester, 
including The University of Manchester, Health Innovation 
Manchester (HInM), and the Greater Manchester Health 
and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP), we are proud to 
be part of, and continue to strengthen and grow the “One 
Manchester” vision. This includes hosting the National 
Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Manchester Biomedical 
Research Centre (BRC) and NIHR Manchester Clinical 
Research Facility (CRF) infrastructure. 

Funding from the Charity is essential in enabling R&I to 
have the speed and flexibility required to support our 
diverse programme of work. In 2019/20, R&I at MFT spent 
or made commitments to projects totalling £1,098,065 of 
Charity funding. 

The Charitable Funds Committee pledged £4,110,000 
over a five-year cycle to Research and Innovation (R&I) to 
support its strategy from 2016/17 through to the end of 
2020/21 to fund, support and underpin our research and 
innovation across four key areas: 

1. Strategic research awards

2. Capacity building 

3. Clinical academia

4. Innovation

All of these activities are essential parts of developing 
the capability of MFT to shape as well as adapt to the 
healthcare systems of the future. Our partnership working 
with the Charity, coupled with our ethos of cost-effective 
pump-priming in the absence of other funds forthcoming 
for infrastructure, has proved to be a very successful model.

1. Strategic awards

We have provided £57,500 (matched-funding) to the 
transition from the Greater Manchester NIHR Collaboration 
for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) 
into its successor organisation hosted at MFT, the NIHR 
Applied Research Collaboration (ARC), which began in 
September 2019.

Our ARC’s research activity will be pivotal in finding new 
and better ways of preventing illness and delivering care, 
ensuring that Greater Manchester continues to be at the 
leading edge of health innovation, care and treatment.

2. Capacity building

During the five-year funding cycle, our strategic focus has 
been concentrated into three key work streams:

1. The Diagnostics Technology Accelerator (DiTA)

2.  Data-Driven Diagnostics and Treatment 
Workshops and pilot funds

3. Rare Diseases

This financial year, we added two further initiatives:

1.  Contribution to clinical research space transformation in 
Nightingale Centre at Wythenshawe Hospital: increased 
capacity for breast cancer research

2.  Twice-yearly NIHR Grant Writing Workshops (partnering 
with Research Design Service North West): upskill 
clinicians, increase grant income, offset income losses 
from altered national policy.

 
Investing in treatment,  
research and care
The latest equipment and facilities 
Charity funds have been spent on a wide range of 
equipment, activities, training and events to help 
patients, their families and to support staff. Here are 
just a few examples of how the money has been  
used in 2019/20.

The Paediatric Intensive Care Unit at Royal Manchester 
Children’s Hospital (RMCH) received £44,000 to help 
create a therapeutic environment for seriously ill children, 
while £20,000 provided play therapy and equipment 
for patients on Ward 84 at RMCH. Young patients also 
benefited from the £33,000 spent on special paediatric 
wheelchairs and on pull-down beds so a parent could stay 
with them overnight. 

At Trafford Hospital, the care of dementia patients was 
boosted through involvement in the Lifetime Radio project, 
funded by £30,000 from the Charity. A total of £197,000 
was spent on providing bedside TVs for inpatients at 
Trafford and other MFT hospitals. 

Music plays an important part in creating a calming 
environment for patients and staff, and the Charity 
awarded £107,000 to fund the Concert series and Music 
for Health programme delivered by Lime Arts. Patients 
in Manchester Royal Infirmary and parents at Saint 
Mary’s Neonatal Intensive Care Unit were able to relax in 
new reclining chairs purchased at a cost of £26,000. And 
patients at Wythenshawe Hospital enjoyed the use of 
comfortable new transport chairs provided at a cost of 
£74,000. 

Several major building and refurbishment projects 
continued to receive support from the Charity in 2019/20, 
including the Helipad, Diabetes Centre, Peter Mount 
Building and the RMCH garden on the Boulevard. The 
funding of £914,000 will benefit MFT patients, their 
families and our staff for many years to come.

Thanks to funding of £848,000 from the Charity, clinical 
teams across MFT were able to buy additional specialist 
equipment to diagnose and treat patients. This ranged 
from lasers and microscopes to ultrasound and patient 
monitoring equipment for Manchester Royal Eye 
Hospital, Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital,  
Saint Mary’s and Wythenshawe Hospital. 

Charitable support of over £350,000 also enabled MFT 
researchers, nurses, doctors and other clinical staff to 
attend conferences and study days in specialties ranging 
from surgery and cystic fibrosis to nuclear medicine and 
bone marrow transplant.

To help celebrate the international Year of the Nurse and 
Midwife 2020, the Charity provided £213,000 to support 
activities and events across the Trust and outreach projects 
with schools and colleges to develop the future NHS 
nursing and midwifery workforce.
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Investing in treatment,  
research and care
3. Career Development and Training

At the beginning of 2019, R&I opened a call for three new 
Peter Mount Clinical Pump-Prime fellowships across the 
whole Trust, looking to promote the development of highly 
motivated future leaders of clinical research in Manchester. 
We were pleased to be able to award three fellowships to:

• Dr Jane Potter – Paediatric ST3 

 “An ex-vivo, haemopoietic stem cell gene therapy 
approach to meet unmet clinical need in Lysosomal 
Acid Lipase Deficiency (LALD, Wolman Syndrome)” 

 Aiming for 2020 applications to Wellcome Trust, 
Medical Research Council, Action Medical Research  
for Children. 

• Dr Haroon Saeed – ENT ST5 

 “A Precision Medicine Approach to Prognosticate 
Hearing Loss Associated with Enlarged Vestibular 
Aqueduct” 

 Aiming for 2020 applications to Medical Research 
Council, NIHR Doctoral Research Fellowship. 

• Dr Chris Worth – General Paediatrics ST4 

 “Digital phenotyping of Hypoglycaemia due to 
Congenital Hyperinsulinism” 

 Aiming for 2020 applications to Wellcome Trust, 
Medical Research Council.

We additionally delivered pledged funding to support the 
PhDs of Dr Jennifer Scott and Dr Joanne Taylor. The latter 
began her British Heart Foundation fellowship in April 
2019, obtaining which our support played a critical role. 

We also supported Dr Rabiya Majeed, researcher with the 
Saint Mary’s Sexual Assault Referral Centre, to speak at the 
European Health Psychology Society 2019 conference.

4. Innovation

In 2019/20 we closed Manchester Health Ventures Ltd as a 
company, creating a clearer split between the directly Trust-
employed Innovation Team and the services provided under 
contract to the Trust by TRUSTECH, as an independent 
company. Mark Claydon, Managing Director of Trustech, 
was contracted to provide an interim Head of Innovation 
service to R&I through to the start in post of Katherine 
Boylan on 1st April 2020, as the permanent and substantive 
Head of Innovation.

We have maintained our MFT Biohub presence at Alderley 
Park, intellectual property management, patent costs for 
MFT medical device projects, the Assured Access Programme 
(Innovation Adoption Manager), and other Innovation 
management and awards such as Proof of Concept and the 
“Innovators of Our Future” programme. The latter is delivered 
with support from the Group Transformation Team and Group 
Organisational Development & Training and brings in university 
partners including Manchester Metropolitan University and the 
University of Manchester, to train a cohort of 12 colleagues to 
progress their innovation ideas.

Summary Plan for 2020/21
The following requests have been approved by the 
Charitable Funds Committee:

Strategic awards

Commitment, along with other ARC partners, for £50,000 
matched funding for Year Two.

Capacity building 

• Continue to support Rare Diseases Project Manager  
for 2020/2021

• Reduced staffing costs for Diagnostics & Technology 
Accelerator (cost recovery and additional  
funding sources)

• Second funding call for pilot studies on strategic  
priority areas

Career development and training 

• Peter Mount Pump-Priming Fellowships

• Practice Based Educator post in Research Nursing  
(part-time Band 6) 

Creating a caring environment 
Lime is an Arts for Health charity that coordinates and 
delivers art projects in the hospital environment with 
staff and patients across Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust.

Established in 1973, Lime boasts global recognition as one 
of the longest standing arts and health organisations in the 
world. Lime’s work is driven by the belief that creativity has 
a powerful role to play in self-determination, well-being 
and the health of society. With ongoing support from the 
MFT Charity, Lime projects complement delivery of clinical 
care and transform healthcare environments to enhance 
quality of life, for thousands of NHS staff and patients, 
every year. 

The artistic vision for MFT combines Art & Design, 
Performance Art & Music and includes four key  
programme strands:

• Built Environment Arts Programme 

• Participatory Arts Programme:

• Adult Arts Programme

• Artist in Residence Programme

• Art Studio & Workshop Programme

• RMCH Music for Health 

• LIVE Public Performance Programme

The 2019/20 arts programme was able to reach more  
staff and patients than ever before, building upon  
existing strengths and the successful establishment of a 
ground-breaking new participatory arts programme.

Innovative participatory programme strands involve 
exciting collaborations and partnerships with research 
institutes, specialist medical units, universities, distinguished 
performing arts and music schools, creative institutions, 
theatre companies, and public institutions such as the BBC. 
The participatory arts programme is also supported and 
part funded by Arts Council England.

Summary of key achievements 2019/20

The 2020/21 Arts Programme will build upon considerable 
successes achieved in 2019/20:

• Commissioned 35 artists and musicians to deliver 
projects across MFT.

• Established Participatory Arts Programme engaging 
over 1000 staff, patients and visitors during residencies 
across 18 wards. 

• Coordinated 147 live concerts at Manchester Royal  
Eye Hospital (MREH). 

• Zestfest engaged 168 participants in art and music 
making workshops. 

• Over 100 MFT staff accessed the Hospital Printmaking 
Studio and learnt new printmaking techniques.  
The first MFT hospital printmaking exhibition 
showcased work co-created by artists, staff  
and patients across MFT. 

• Music for Health team co-ordinated 11 music 
residencies across Royal Manchester Children’s  
Hospital (RMCH).

• Completed three major site specific environmental  
art installations. 

• National recognition for RMCH Paediatric Mortuary 
Arts Project, shortlisted BBH Awards 2019 for Best 
Collaborative Arts Project. 

• Specially commissioned Participatory Arts  
Programme film. 

• Lime artists delivered workshops to celebrate 
International Nurses’ Day and Mental Health  
Awareness Week. 

• The Lime Director presented to over 400 nurses and 
midwives attending Bee Brilliant events at the Oxford 
Road and Wythenshawe campuses.
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Investing in treatment,  
research and care
Built Environments Art Programme (BEAP)

Lime’s BEAP projects transform clinical spaces into people 
friendly, therapeutic environments. Lime manages and 
commissions high profile artists and designers who work 
closely with patients, service users and staff to carefully 
develop bespoke artworks in response to the unique and 
complex needs of departments and services across MFT.  
The projects in 2019/20 were:

Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital Cleft Lip Palette 
and Dental Unit: Lead artist Lucy Casson along with 
a cohort of interactive artists and designers have been 
commissioned to deliver a series of exploratory creative 
consultations with staff and patients to investigate and 
imagine how interactive art and design features might 
transform the RMCH Cleft Lip Palette and Dental Unit. 
Staff and patients will work with Lucy and co-create unique 
illustration based artworks to create a warm, welcoming 
and friendly environment, suitable for both young and adult 
patients who visit the units. Project due to complete 2021.

Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital Clinical Research 
Facility: A music project to create soundscapes for four 
individual spaces at the CRF in consultation with staff, 
patients and families. This project is delivered alongside 
a sustained year-long programme of music activity with 
CRF patients and their families. Musicians have delivered 
interactive music-making consultation sessions with staff 
members and patients, as well as producing early stage 
music recordings in situ during clinics with families. Project 
due to complete 2020.

Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital CAMHS  
(Phase 2): Lime commissioned Lead Artists Alex Godwin 
and Sarah Whitfield to create in collaboration with staff and 
service users a series of new bespoke artworks to complete 
the integrated art and design project at the Winnicott 
Centre, which began in 2017. The new features combine 
hand-painted and hand-drawn artworks created by the 
artists along with a gallery of original artworks created by 
staff and patients during workshops with the artists. 

Lime Participatory Arts Programme (PAP) 

Lime introduced the Adult Arts Programme across the 
Manchester Royal Infirmary (MRI) site, commissioning 
internationally acclaimed, diverse artists to create new 
artwork and music with adult patients and NHS staff 
directly on the wards. Lime’s Hospital Printmaking Studio 
was launched and the new Artists-in-Residence programme 
hosted four artists who trained to work in acute clinical 
settings during their 10 month hospital based residencies. 
Lime’s artists and musicians engaged thousands of MFT 
patients, service users and NHS staff during the 2019 
Participatory Arts Programme and created hundreds of new 
and original artworks, a selection of which are on public 
display at two newly designated exhibition and gallery areas 
at MRI and MREH. 

• Artist in Residence Programme (AiR)

 Funded by the MFT Charity and Arts Council England, 
four artist /printmakers in residence were selected 
through a national open call and throughout 2019 
delivered approximately 80 ward-based workshops and 
engaged over 800 staff, patients and visitors in high 
quality art and music making activity. Staff and patient 
artwork was displayed alongside new works created  
by the four artists in residence at an exhibition and  
pop-up gallery event at Saint Mary’s Hospital atrium  
in January 2020.

• Adult Arts Programme (AAP) 

 Lime in partnership with ‘So Many Beauties’ continues 
to expand the ‘Music Creativity and Dementia’ strand 
of work (established in 2018), delivering projects with a 
host of specially commissioned musicians, visual artists 
and performance artists for up to 500 patients on  
Ward 45, Ward 46, the Emergency Surgery Trauma  
Unit and Manchester Ward. New pieces of music and 
creative content for BBC Proms in August 2020 are 
being developed through the projects. 

• MFT Staff Workshops 

 The Lime Hospital Print Studio was launched in autumn 
2019 and between October and December provided 
16 printmaking workshops delivered by Lime Artists 
in Residence and guest artists. Workshops enabled 
128 MFT staff to access the studio and learn new 
printmaking techniques and skills. Staff evaluation 
surveys indicated that 100% of respondents felt they 
had benefited (some or a great deal of benefit) from 
having the opportunity to do something creative, and 
98% of respondents felt that they had benefited from 
learning a new skill. 99% felt that the workshops were 
beneficial for their personal wellbeing. 

Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital Music  
for Health Programme (M4H) 

Delivered by Lime’s specialist Lead Musicians Ros Hawley 
and Mark Fisher and supported by funding from the Youth 
Music Foundation across 2019/20 along with funds granted 
by the MFT Charity. The 2019/20 programme includes: 

• the ongoing Songbirds project on Ward 83 working 
with staff and long-term hospitalised children with 
complex healthcare needs

• the ‘Soundspaces’ project with residencies in Critical 
Care to address noise levels and provided music training 
for nursing staff

• ‘Flying the Nest’ which provides bespoke music making 
sessions for identified families to support transitions 
from children to adult services

• ‘Zest Fest’, with art/music workshops at the Play 
Centre and RMCH Wards 77, 78 and 85 plus a public 
facing workshop in the atrium and a grand parade led 
by Global Grooves and performances by 20 disabled 
musicians from Special Virtuosi, plus other performances 
by musicians from the wider music community 

The Music for Health programme also provides training for 
Royal Northern College of Music students and maintains 
ongoing research links with Salford University School of 
Nursing and Midwifery.

Live Public Performance Programme

Now in its fifth year, the lunchtime concert series at 
Manchester Royal Eye Hospital is a firmly established part 
of life at the hospital and during 2019 Lime curated over 
150 live music concerts. Commissioned on behalf of MREH, 
concerts aim to uplift, soothe and entertain. Taking place 
in the hospital atrium, they are accessible to the general 
public as well as MFT staff and patients. The 2019/20 
concert series has been integrated more with hospital 
activity, providing special performances for ‘Staff Wellbeing 
Day’ in June 2019, the MREH site 10th birthday celebration 
in August, plus provision of a full week of concerts from 
23rd September to celebrate ‘National Eye Health Week’.

Lime is recognised as a global leader in arts and health 
practice and continues to advocate the MFT Arts 
Programme overseas, most recently working with arts and 
health colleagues in Finland. The team is also involved in 
the Manchester Institute for Arts, Health & Social Change, 
a new group developing closer collaborations over the next 
five years, to consolidate the profile of Greater Manchester 
as the UK’s arts and health centre of excellence.

Our future plans
The Charity’s key objectives for 2020/21 are to 
conclude our fundraising in support of our iMRI 
Scanner Appeal for Royal Manchester Children’s 
Hospital, which launched in June 2018, as well as to 
fund a variety of projects across our hospital family 
that will enhance the treatment and care that we 
provide for our patients. These include the provision 
of new state-of-the-art equipment, enhancing the 
hospital environment for the 2.5 million patients 
cared for throughout our hospitals each year, and 
supporting life-changing clinical research to help 
shape the future of healthcare for patients across  
the North West and beyond.
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Structure, governance  
and management
Manchester Foundation Trust Charity 
objectives and priorities
The charitable fund was created under Trust  
deed executed on 26th July 1995 and constituted  
with a sole Corporate Trustee, which is now the  
Board of Directors of Manchester University  
NHS Foundation Trust. 

The object of the Charity is “for any charitable purpose or 
purposes relating to hospital services (including research) or 
to any other part of the National Health Service associated 
with any hospital.”

The main priority for the Charity is to enhance what is 
provided by the NHS, ensuring continued excellence in 
treatment, care and research by supporting:

• State-of-the-art equipment for better  
diagnosis and treatment 

• The creation of less clinical and more patient  
friendly environments across our hospitals

• Innovative research to improve our understanding  
of illness

Organisation structure
The overall management and decision-making of 
the Charity is the responsibility of the Charitable 
Funds Committee. The Committee has specific terms 
of reference and no business may be transacted at a 
meeting unless two Group Non-Executive Directors 
and one Group Executive Director, who must be the 
Group Chief Finance Officer (or nominated deputy), 
are present. The chairman of the volunteer Charity 
Fundraising Board, that supports the Trustee in terms 
of fundraising development and income generation, 
also attends the Committee as an independent 
member. The Group Chief Finance Officer is the Group 
Executive Director nominated by the Board to have 
prime responsibility for the administration of the 
Charity’s finances.

The Charity has a Charitable Funds Guide which is 
distributed to all fundholders. The guide ensures that the 
expenditure from the Charity is compliant with the Charity 
Commission’s Public Benefit guidance.

The Charity is registered with one unrestricted fund, which 
relates to the Oxford Road site only, and one restricted fund 
which relates to Wythenshawe Hospital, which is linked to 
the Charity following the merger in 2017/18. This means that 
the unrestricted funds have no restrictions on how the money 
is spent, other than the governing document and specific 
restrictions imposed by all donors. The balance included in the 
restricted funds is required to be spent to benefit the patients 
and staff on the Wythenshawe Hospital site. 

The Corporate Trustee will always comply with the donors’ 
wishes. All other funds are classed as designations which 
enable each fund to be managed by fund advisers at an 
appropriate level within the organisation, and any expenditure 
charged to the fund must be appropriately approved in line 
with the scheme of delegation below. The designated fund 
advisers are appointed by the NHS Trust’s management team 
in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation approved  
by the Board. 

Scheme of delegation for  
Manchester University NHS  
Foundation Trust Charity

Value of 
expenditure (£)

Authorisation required by

0–4,999 Fund Advisor

5,000–9,999
Fund Advisor and Directorate 
Manager

10,000–49,999
Fund Advisor, Directorate 
Manager and Divisional Director 
or Clinical Head of Division

50,000–99,999

Fund Advisor, Directorate 
Manager, Divisional Director or  
Clinical Head of Division and 
Executive Director

Above 100,000 Charitable Funds Committee

Appointments to Corporate Trustee
The Board of Directors currently comprises a Group 
Chairman, eight Group Non-Executive Directors and 
eight Group Executive Directors, including the Group 
Chief Executive. The Group Chairman and Group 
Non-Executive Directors are appointed through a 
selection process and have the skills and attributes to 
act as advocates for their communities and provide 
leadership for the NHS. The Council of Governors 
approves these appointments. Regular briefings  
and workshops are provided for the Corporate 
Trustee as required.

The Group Chief Executive is appointed by the Group 
Chairman and Group Non-Executive Directors with approval 
from the Council of Governors. A committee consisting  
of the Group Chairman, the Group Chief Executive and  
the other Group Non-Executive Directors appoints  
Executive Directors. 

Corporate Trustee remuneration
The individuals comprising the sole Corporate Trustee 
are the Group Executive and Group Non-Executive 
members of the Board of Directors of the Manchester 
University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT). The individuals 
do not receive any remuneration from the Charity 
in their capacity as Trustee; they are, however, 
remunerated by the NHS Trust in their capacity  
as a Board member. 

The Charity’s support costs include a small administration 
charge from the NHS Trust in relation to the time devoted 
to the Charity.

Related party relationships
The Charity works closely with, and provides the 
majority of its grants to, Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust. The Charity Trustee constitutes the 
members of the Trust Board. During the financial year, 
the Charity paid grants totalling £4.27m (£4.01m in 
2018/19) to MFT in furtherance of its objectives.

The Charity leased property from Bruntwood 2000  
Holdings Limited and paid £123k (£87k, 2018/19).  
One Executive Director member of the MFT Trust Board 
is MFT’s nominated Director for Manchester Science 
Partnerships Limited.

Charitable Fundraising Board
Central to the growth of the Charity’s income is the 
Charitable Fundraising Board. The Chairman and 
members are responsible for the leadership and 
engagement of key individuals able to play a critical 
role in the growth of the fundraised income of the 
Manchester Foundation Trust Charity.

A voluntary body, the Charitable Fundraising Board plays 
a key role in assisting the Charity to achieve its fundraising 
objectives to help shape the evolving fundraising vision 
for the charity, advises on fundraising plans, and uses its 
influence and contacts to cultivate and solicit individuals 
and organisational representatives that the fundraising 
team might not otherwise be able to engage. 

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the role of the 
Charitable Fundraising Board is to direct, advise and 
support the efforts of the Charity Fundraising Team to 
identify and solicit gifts for the Charity from individuals, 
companies, and charitable trusts. 

In addition, members of the Charitable Fundraising 
Board serve as ambassadors for the Charity, promoting 
its cause and mission where appropriate and identifying 
opportunities for fundraising and awareness raising. 

Fundraising standards
Our Charity is constantly reviewing the way it engages 
with our supporters and the public. We have robust 
contracts in place with external organisations, which 
specify that individuals who carry out fundraising 
activities should be trained to adhere to applicable laws 
and codes, such as the Fundraising Regulator’s Code 
of Fundraising Practice and data protection laws. Up 
to 31st March 2020 the Charity worked with eleven 
commercial participators.

Our Charity voluntarily subscribes to the Fundraising 
Regulator and its Code of Fundraising Practice and Institute 
of Fundraising. The Regulator assumed responsibility for 
regulating fundraising from July 2016 and investigates and 
takes appropriate action on cases of public concern. 
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Structure, governance 
and management 
Working with third party fundraisers
Monitoring and control of fundraising activities, including 
the work done by external organisations, is vital to ensure 
that our supporters have a great experience and are treated 
fairly. If we find cause for concern we investigate as a matter 
of urgency and take appropriate action. We have robust 
contracts in place with external organisations, which specify 
that individuals who carry out these activities should be 
trained to adhere to applicable laws and codes, such as the 
Fundraising Regulator’s Code of Fundraising Practice and 
data protection laws. We also expect these organisations to 
reflect our values when talking to supporters. 

Protecting vulnerable people
As a Charity we are especially careful and sensitive when 
engaging with vulnerable people. Our practices reflect this, 
for example through our guidance and training, and we 
strive to ensure our staff and third-party fundraisers follow 
these too. As an NHS Corporate Trustee Charity we adhere 
to NHS safeguarding policy and procedures. 

Supporter data
Responsible use of personal data is at the heart of our 
fundraising practice. In accordance with electronic 
marketing legislation, we have an ‘opt-in’ approach to all 
of the e-marketing that we undertake, meaning that we 
only contact supporters with marketing and fundraising 
communications by electronic means if they have given the 
Charity unambiguous and explicit permission to do so. With 
regards to direct postal marketing, the Charity will rely on 
the basis of legitimate interests to ensure that we comply 
with laws and industry standards, and we will be able to 
demonstrate how our decision to process personal data for 
direct marketing purposes passes the necessary balancing 
tests. All recipients of marketing will be able to opt-out 
from receiving it, and in doing so will be removed from the 
relevant distribution list. 

Complaints
We try to make sure that supporting Manchester 
Foundation Trust Charity is a great experience. However, 
not everyone will agree with the way we promote and 
manage our campaigns, so we provide a fair complaints 
procedure which is clear, easy to use and published on our 
website. Although some complaints are complex and take 
time to resolve our Charity endeavours to respond quickly 
and efficiently. As a Charity we enjoy interacting with our 
supporters at our many events, on the telephone, by  
email, in the press, through social media and on our 
website. In the year to 31st March 2020, we received 
eleven complaints, of which three directly related to  
our fundraising.

Investments
The Charitable Funds Committee has responsibility for the 
management and monitoring of the investments of the 
Charity, as delegated by the Corporate Trustee. The Charity 
conforms to the investment powers given within the 
Charity Commission Order for an NHS umbrella charity and 
the Trustee Act 2000. The Charity uses two investments 
advisors who manage the investment portfolio as directed 
by the Charity Trustees.

Employees
The Charity does not directly employ any staff. The Charity 
funds staffing costs, including clinical and support staff, 
who undertake research and other charitable activities, as 
well as fundraising and administrative staff who run and 
support the Charity. These members of staff are employed 
by Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, which then 
makes a recharge to the Charity for the costs incurred solely 
in relation to the work they do for the Charity.

Risks and internal control
The Charitable Fund Committee has undertaken a full 
review of the major risks to which the Charity may be 
exposed, based upon the guidance issued by the Charity 
Commission ‘Charities and Risk Management’. The review 
covers the risks associated with:

• Governance and Management

• Operational Risk

• Financial Risks

• Environmental/External Factors

• Compliance Risk (law and regulation)

The Trustee appoint an External Auditor, Mazars, which 
ensures the Charity’s published accounts truly represent the 
financial standing as at the reporting date of 31st March 
and has the power to report to the Charities Commission 
if they have any concerns. The External Auditor’s report is 
given on page 28–29. In addition to this, the systems and 
controls in place are subject to regular review by Internal 
Audit, a service provided by KPMG. The Operational 
Finance Director, on behalf of the Trustee, is responsible 
for ensuring any action points raised by both Mazars and 
KPMG are applied and monitored. 

Principal risks and uncertainty  
facing the Charity
The Charity is a subsidiary of MFT and is supported  
by the overarching control environment within  
the Group. 

The main risk arising from Brexit for the Charity is the 
valuation of its investments and the impact any decline due 
to market forces will have on the fund balance. The Charity 
has invested in a diversified portfolio with sufficient risk 
to meet the agreed long term objectives of the invested 
capital, deemed to have an overall risk level of low to 
medium. The Trustees receive regular updates relating to 
the performance of the investments and the risks relating to 
these investments.

The Charity’s overall reserves and investment policy have 
been set to ensure that no undue or unnecessary risks are 
taken and the Charity’s investments continue to meet the 
organisations strategic objectives, while preserving the capital 
over the long term against the effects of inflation.

Governance and usage of funds where delegated authority 
has been granted poses a risk, in relation to ensuring funds 
are used in line with the aims and objects of the Charity  
as set out by its governing document and the Trustee.  
In addition to the approved scheme of delegation,  
there is a robust system of control when processing 
expenditure requests.

The level of incoming resources poses a risk to the 
achievements of the objectives of the Charity. The approach 
the Fundraising Team take to maximise the income 
generated, supported by the Charity Fundraising Board and 
the Charitable Funds Committee, minimises this risk.  

The Charity anticipates a loss of fundraised income in 
2020/21 as a result of the COVID-19 global pandemic. This 
is due to the fundraising team being re-deployed to assist 
with projects to support the wellbeing of MFT staff at the 
start of the pandemic, resulting in a significant reduction 
of fundraising activity during March to May 2020, and the 
cancellation of mass participant events and community third 
party fundraising activity due to government guidance - this 
type of fundraising activity typically forms approximately one 
third of the charity’s fundraised income.

Going concern
The Trustee has a reasonable expectation that the Charity 
has adequate resources to continue as a going concern. 
Expenditure is discretionary and balanced against the 
reserves policy requirements. Accounting for income and 
expenditure is on an accruals basis to ensure all committed 
expenditure is reflected in the reporting process, and the 
Charity has sufficient resources to meet its committed 
expenditure for 12 months from the date that the  
financial statements were approved by the Charitable  
Funds Committee.

Indemnity insurance
The NHS Trust has Directors’ indemnity insurance,  
which also covers their responsibilities as Trustee  
of the charitable fund. 
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Financial review
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting and Reporting by Charities (SORP 2015)” applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective 1st January 2016 and the Charities Act 2011.

Funding summary

Source of income

The income streams of the Charity are:

2019/20 2018/19

Income Stream £k % £k %

Donations 389 5 750 10

Income from fundraising events 5,018 60 4,750 61

Legacies 1,865 22 1,755 23

Investments 594 7 413 5

Grants receivable 323 4 125 2

Transfer from Pennine Care NHS FT Charitable Fund 177 2 0 0

Total 8,366 100 7,793 100

Financial highlights – income and expenditure
Income for the year ending 31st March 2020 totalled £8.37m (£7.79m in 2018/19). 

Expenditure on charitable activities during the year was £6.33m (£6.19m in 2018/19).

Reserves policy
The Charity is able to hold and administer funds for 
any purpose relating to hospital services, including 
research. The Trust comprises ten hospitals, and also 
provides Community Services:

• Altrincham Hospital 

• Manchester Royal Eye Hospital

• Manchester Royal Infirmary (MRI)

• Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital

• Saint Mary’s Hospital

• Trafford General Hospital

• University Dental Hospital of Manchester

• Withington Community Hospital

• Wythenshawe Hospital

• Community Services across Manchester

• North Manchester General Hospital (managed by MFT 
under an interim management agreement ahead of 
being formally acquired)

The diverse and specialist nature of the services provided from 
these hospitals encourages a similarly diverse donor base.

In order to ensure that donations are used in accordance with 
the donors’ wishes, but without creating a separate trust, the 
Trustee operates a number of designated funds. 

These designations allow the Trustee to ensure that the 
funds are applied in harmony with donor wishes and are 
administered by operational managers through the policies 
and procedures set by the Trustee. 

Reserves are defined as the part of a charity’s funds that are 
freely available to fund its general operations and so are 
not subject to commitments, planned expenditure or other 
restrictions. Consequently, reserves do not include endowment 
funds, restricted funds and designated funds if they are 
earmarked or designated for essential future spending.  
The Trustee has a requirement for freely available funds in 
order to fund the following:

• Six months’ operating expenditure

• Estimated risks of unplanned closure

In arriving at the appropriate level of reserves, the Trustee  
has considered the following:

• The financial risks facing the Charity

• The level of existing funds and reserves

• Likely future expenditure

• Past operational and other trends

• Liabilities arising from unplanned closure

The policy requires the Charity to maintain a reserve of circa 
£2m, which has been achieved throughout the financial 
year via cash available in the bank account and access to 
liquid investments:

• Six months’ operating expenditure – this relates to 
the running and administration costs of the Charity. 
The full year cost of running the Charity is circa £2m 
and therefore the amount held should equal £1m in 
order to meet the requirement of the Reserves Policy. 

• Estimated risks of unplanned closure – this is the 
potential cost associated with the risk of unplanned 
closure relating to unavoidable future commitments 
that the Charity would be required to pay. The only 
potential cost currently that the Charity is committed 
to is a long term lease until July 2024, for the 
occupation of the ground floor of the Maurice  
Watkins Building at a value of £0.43m.

During the year, movements in investments and fund 
balances have resulted in a deficit balance within the 
unrestricted element of the Corporate/Trustwide fund 
balance, although the fund overall is in surplus. To recover 
this deficit the Charity will allocate funds received,  
monitor expenditures and reflect future market 
improvements in investments.

The level of reserves is continually monitored by the Trustee 
and the policy will be reviewed every three years.
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Financial review

Investments

Investment powers
The Charity conforms to the investment powers given by 
the Charity Commission Order for a NHS umbrella charity 
and the Trustee Act 2000. 

Investment policy
The Charity’s investment policy is based upon the powers 
within the Trust deed, which forms the basis of a formal 
investment management agreement with the investment 
managers. The main aims of the policy are that:

• There should be a balanced portfolio

• The investment preference is to be conservative

• The Trustee monitors performance against the 
WM2000 weighted average

• The investment managers refrain from the direct 
investment in companies which have substantial 
activities in tobacco manufacture

• There is no direct investment exposure to overseas 
shares. Overseas equity exposure should be taken 
through UK quoted trusts. Overseas exposure should 
not exceed 20% of the total fund

The Trustee has elected to invest surplus funds in COIF 
investments. The achieved objective of this is to provide 
a low risk investment vehicle with instant access which 
generates a higher rate of return when compared to  
other alternatives. 

Ethical investment policy
The Trustee has considered and agreed a policy for ethical 
investments, which forms part of the investment policy 
agreed with the Investment Managers. The policy says: 
“The Investment Manager should not invest directly in 
a company which has substantial activities in tobacco 
manufacture, as this would conflict directly with the  
aims of a healthcare charity.”

Investment portfolio
The Charity has two investment portfolios which are 
managed through Brewin Dolphin and Sarasin. Both 
investment portfolios are compliant with its investment 
policy. The market value of the investments at  
31st March 2020 is shown below.

Bank name Market Value at 
31/03/2020 £k

Brewin Dolphin 12,985

Sarasin 5,462

 
Corporate Trustee  
responsibilities statement
The Corporate Trustee is responsible for preparing the Trustee Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland’.

The law applicable to charities in England & Wales requires the Corporate Trustee to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Charity and of the incoming resources 
and the application of resources of the entity for that period. The Trustee has elected to prepare the financial statement 
in accordance with the law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Corporate Trustee is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

• Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2015

• Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

• State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is  
inappropriate to presume that the Charity will continue in operation

The Corporate Trustee is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Charity and enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities 
Act 2011, the Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed. It is also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The Corporate Trustee is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Charity and financial information included 
on the Charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Corporate Trustee.

Kathy Cowell OBE DL 
Group Chairman of the Trust and Trustee

Sir Michael Deegan CBE 
Group Chief Executive of the Trust and Trustee

Dated: 22nd September 2020
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Responsibilities of Trustee
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 27, the trustees are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees’ are 
responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the 
charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for  
the audit of the financial statements is located  
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of the audit report
We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of 
the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with the 
Act and regulations made or having effect thereunder. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s 
Ethical Standard. Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the charity’s trustees those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
charity and the Charity’s Trustees as a body for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Signed:

Mazars LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  
One St Peter’s Square 
Manchester 
M2 3DE

Date: 

Mazars LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor of the charity 
by virtue of its eligibility for appointment as auditor of a 
company under section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.  

Independent auditor’s report to  
the Trustee of Manchester University  
NHS Foundation Trust Charity

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Manchester 
University NHS Foundation Trust Charity (the ‘charity’) 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the 
Statement of Financial Activities, Balance Sheet, Cash 
Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• Give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its income and 
expenditure for the year then ended;

• Have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

• Have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Charities Act 2011.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• The Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• The Trustee have not disclosed in the financial statements 
any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the charity’s ability to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included 
in the Charitable Funds Annual Report, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the charity 
and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified material misstatements in the Charitable 
Funds Annual Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
in relation to which the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• The information given in the financial statements is 
inconsistent in any material respect with the Charitable 
Funds Annual Report; or

• Sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or

• The financial statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records; or

• We have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Statement of Financial Activities incorporating an Income and 
Expenditure account for period ending 31st March 2020

2019/20 2018/19

Note

ORC 
unrestricted  

funds

ORC 
restricted  

funds

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

restricted  
funds

Total 
restricted 

funds
Total 

funds

ORC 
unrestricted  

funds

ORC 
restricted  

funds

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

restricted  
funds

Total 
restricted 

funds
Total 

funds

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Income from:

Donations and legacies 2 1,896 67 614 681 2,577 1,096 949 585 1,534 2,630

Other trading activities – 
Income from fundraising 
events

2.1 2,759 2,109 150 2,259 5,018 4,582 76 92 168 4,750

Other Donation – Transfer 
from Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust Charity

2.2 177 0 0 0 177 0 0 0 0 0

Investments 2.3 397 0 197 197 594 216 0 197 197 413

Total 5,229 2,176 961 3,137 8,366 5,894 1,025 874 1,899 7,793

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 3 1,975 0 151 151 2,126 1,534 0 130 130 1,664

Charitable activities 3.1 4,803 563 963 1,526 6,329 4,815 416 956 1,372 6,187

Total 3.2 6,778 563 1,114 1,677 8,455 6,349 416 1,086 1,502 7,850

Net gain/(loss) on 
investments

5 (831) 0 (238) (238) (1,069) 360 0 212 212 573

Net income/(expenditure) (2,380) 1,613 (391) 1,222 (1,158) (94) 609 0 609 516

Net movement in funds (2,380) 1,613 (391) 1,222 (1,158) (94) 609 0 609 516

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 
as previously reported

9 8,803 2,626 6,665 9,291 18,094 8,896 2,017 6,665 8,683 17,578

Net movement in funds for 
the year

(2,380) 1,613 (391) 1,222 (1,158) (94) 609 0 609 516

Total funds carried forward 9 6,423 4,239 6,274 10,513 16,936 8,803 2,626 6,665 9,291 18,094

All figures reported in the Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) are from continuing operations and there are no other recognised gains and losses to disclose.

 
  

Balance sheet as at  
31st March 2020

Note

ORC 
unrestricted  

funds

ORC 
restricted  

funds

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

restricted  
funds

Restricted 
funds

Total 
at 31st 
March 
2020

ORC 
unrestricted  

funds

ORC 
restricted  

funds

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

restricted  
funds

Restricted 
funds

Total 
at 31st 
March 
2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 4 72 0 0 0 72 83 0 0 0 83

Investments
5 and 

5.1
10,057 2,925 5,462 8,387 18,444 10,888 2,925 5,738 8,663 19,551

Investment property
5 and 

5.1
3 0 0 0 3 3 0 0 0 3

Total non-current assets 10,132 2,925 5,462 8,387 18,519 10,975 2,925 5,738 8,663 19,637

Current assets

Debtors 6 458 250 85 335 793 687 250 20 270 957

Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,527 2,586 1,446 4,032 7,559 1,594 1,868 2,088 3,956 5,550

Total current assets 3,985 2,836 1,531 4,367 8,352 2,281 2,118 2,108 4,226 6,507

Creditors: Amounts falling 
due within one year

8 (2,553) 0 (51) (51) (2,604) (434) 0 (23) (23) (456)

Commitments: Amounts 
falling due within one year

8 (4,928) (1,522) (668) (2,190) (7,118) (3,774) (2,417) (940) (3,357) (7,131)

Net current  
(Liabilities)/assets

(3,496) 1,314 812 2,126 (1,370) (1,927) (299) 1,146 847 (1,080)

Creditors: Amounts falling 
due after more than one year

Commitments 8.1 (213) 0 0 0 (213) (244) 0 (219) (219) (463)

Total net assets 6,423 4,239 6,274 10,513 16,936 8,803 2,626 6,665 9,291 18,094

The funds of the Charity:

Restricted income funds 0 4,239 5,549 9,788 9,788 0 2,626 5,664 8,290 8,290

Unrestricted funds 4,891 0 0 0 4,891 6,440 0 0 0 6,440

Investment revaluation 
reserve

5.2 1,532 0 725 725 2,257 2,363 0 1,001 1,001 3,364

Total Charity funds 9 6,423 4,239 6,274 10,513 16,936 8,803 2,626 6,665 9,291 18,094

The notes on pages 32–49 form part of these financial statements.

In line with the charities SORP, the linked charities’ activities have been aggregated into the SOFA with further analysis 
included in the notes to the accounts, differentiating the activities and funds held by each linked charity. The income, 
expenditure, assets and liabilities relating to the former Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Charity have the heading of Oxford Road Campus (ORC), and those relating to University Hospitals of South Manchester 
Charity have the heading of Wythenshawe Hospital. 

The notes on pages 32–49 form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements of the MFT Charity registered number 1049274 were approved by the Board 
of Trustees and authorised for issue on 22nd September 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

Kathy Cowell OBE DL
Group Chairman

Jenny Ehrhardt
Group Chief Finance Officer
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Cash flow statement  
period ending 31st March 2020

Note

Total  
31st March  

2020

Total  
31st March  

2019

£000 £000

Cash outflow from operating activities

Operating surplus SOFA (88) 192 

Interest received (565) (384)

Dividends received (29) (29)

Depreciation and amortisation 4 11 11 

Decrease in trade and other receivables 6 164 (261)

Increase in trade and other payables 8 1,884 (214)

Net cash generated from operations 1,377 (685)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 565 384 

Dividends received 29 29 

Reduction in value of investment  
(portfolio management fee)

38 30 

Net cash provided by investing activities 632 443 

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
in the reporting period

2,009 (242)

Cash and cash equivalents at the  
beginning of the reporting period

5,550 5,792 

Cash and cash equivalents at the  
end of the reporting period

7 7,559 5,550 

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Accounting policies

1.1 Charitable status

The Charity is a public benefit entity, a registered charity, 
and its registered office is given on page 51.

On 1st October 2017, the Charity’s Corporate Trustee, 
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust, merged with University Hospital of South Manchester 
NHS Foundation Trust to form Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust.

On this date, the Charity Commission linked the charities  
as part of the Manchester University NHS Foundation  
Trust Charity. 

1.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the historic cost basis, with the exception of 
investments which are included at revalued amounts. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
issued in October 2019 and the Charities Act 2011 and  
UK Generally Accepted Practice as it applies from  
1st January 2019.

The financial statements have been prepared to give a 
‘true and fair’ view and have departed from the Charities 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent 
required to provide a ‘true and fair’ view. This departure has 
involved following Accounting and Reporting by Charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102) issued in October 2019 rather than 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice effective from 1st April 2005 which 
has since been withdrawn.

The Trustee has a reasonable expectation that the Charity 
has adequate resources to continue as a going concern. 
The significant financial risk facing the Charity is that the 
value of its investments will decline due to market forces, 
which will adversely affect available funds. However, 
there are appropriate mitigations in place as defined in 
the Charity’s Investment Policy, and therefore the Trustee 
is confident that the funds will not be adversely affected 
in the long term by changes to investment markets. 
Expenditure is discretionary, and balanced against the 
reserves policy requirements. Accounting for income and 
expenditure is on an accruals basis to ensure all committed 
expenditure is reflected in the reporting process, and the 
Charity has sufficient resources to meet its committed 
expenditure for 12 months from the date that the financial 
statements were approved by the Corporate Trustee.

1.3 Income 

a. Income is recognised when the Charity has entitlement 
to the funds, any performance conditions attached to 
the item(s) of income have been met, it is probable that 
the income will be received and the amount can be 
measured reliably.

b. Investment income reported in the SOFA and in note 
2.3 includes dividend income and interest on bank 
accounts, but excludes unrealised gains. It is accounted 
for on an accruals basis.

c. Gifts in kind: assets given for use by the Charity are 
included in the SOFA as incoming resources when 
received. Gifts in kind are based on retail value and 
the amount the items could be sold for by the donor. 
For all gifts in kind, the amount recognised is either 
an estimate measured with sufficient reliability or the 
actual amount realised.

d. Donations and gift aid are disclosed under voluntary 
income in the SOFA, and recognised when receivable. 
Auctions and sponsorship income from fundraising 
events are disclosed under other trading activities.

e. Legacies are accounted for as income where the receipt 
of the legacy is probable. At the balance sheet date a 
legacy is accounted for if all the following criteria have 
been met;

• there has been grant of probate;

•  the executors have established that there are 
sufficient assets in the estate, after settling any 
liabilities, to pay the legacy; and

•  any conditions attached to the legacy are either 
within the control of the charity or have been met.

f. The Charity defers income where terms and conditions 
have not been met or uncertainty exists as to whether 
these terms or conditions can be met. The income is not 
recognised but deferred as a liability until it is probable 
that the terms or conditions imposed can be met.
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1.8 Tangible fixed assets

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:-

• It is held for use in delivering services or for 
administrative purposes;

• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, 
or service potential will be supplied to, the Charity;

• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and

• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or

• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least 
£5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they 
had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have simultaneous disposal dates, and are under single 
managerial control; or

• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up 
cost of a new building, unit, project or service, irrespective 
of their individual or collective cost.

Valuation

Equipment assets are carried at Depreciated Historic Cost, 
as this is not considered to be materially different from Fair 
Value. The Charity owns no land or buildings.

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost or valuation, 
less any residual value, of Property, Plant and Equipment 
over their estimated useful lives, in a manner which reflects 
the consumption of economic benefits or service potential 
of the assets.

The assets owned by the Charity include fixtures and 
fittings used in the course of business. These assets are 
included in a building leased by the Charity and as such 
have been depreciated over the life of the lease, i.e. 15 
years. IT assets have been depreciated over a 5 year period.

1.9 Investment gains and losses

Gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Financial 
Activities as they arise. Realised gains and losses on 
investments are calculated as the difference between sale 
proceeds and opening market value.

Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as the difference 
between the market value as at 31st March 2020 and the 
opening market value, and are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Activities. Unrealised losses are accounted for in 
the revaluation reserve, unless there is evidence the market 
value of the investments will continue to decline in the 
future (in which case the loss is realised in the Statement  
of Financial Activities).

1.10 Operating leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, even if the payments are not 
made on such a basis. Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease are similarly spread on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.11 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the Charity becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are 
initially measured at transaction price (including transaction 
costs), except for those financial assets classified at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at 
fair value (which is normally the transaction price excluding 
transaction costs), unless the arrangement constitutes 
a financing transaction. If an arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction, the financial asset or financial liability 
is measured at the present value of the future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar  
debt instrument.

The Charity only holds financial assets and financial liabilities 
of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction 
value, and subsequently measured at their settlement value.

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement 
amount due after any trade discount offered. Prepayments 
are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade 
discounts due. Cash at bank and cash in hand includes 
cash and short term highly liquid investments with a 
short maturity of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account. 
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the Charity 
has a present obligation resulting from a past event that 
will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third 
party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions 
are normally recognised at their settlement amount after 
allowing for any trade discounts due.

1.12  Role of volunteers

Our general volunteers support the Charity at fundraising 
events, street collections and at mass participatory events. 
General volunteer time is not recognised in the accounts.

1.4 Expenditure

Expenditure is recognised when a liability is incurred, and  
where appropriate irrecoverable VAT is recorded under the 
relevant cost heading for the activity expensed. The Charity  
is only exempt from VAT when making purchases of  
medical equipment.

The costs of raising funds are those associated with generating 
income for funds held on trust. This will include costs associated 
with fundraising events and investment management. All 
costs associated with generating income are borne centrally 
through the Charity’s general purpose fund and not charged to 
individual designations.

Grants payable are payments made to bodies external to and 
within the boundary of the NHS in furtherance of the objects of 
the Charity. They are accounted for on an accruals basis where 
the conditions for their payment have been met or where a 
third party has reasonable expectation that they will receive the 
grant, and include grants paid to Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust (MFT). 

At the end of the financial year, the Charity may have received 
goods and services which have not been invoiced at the balance 
sheet date. In these circumstances, an estimated value of the 
cost is included in the Charity’s reported financial results. In 
some cases, the estimated value is based on the quoted value 
provided by the supplier when the goods were ordered; in other 
cases, the charge may be estimated based on methods such as 
the last price paid for the same good or service.

Commitments for future expenditure are recognised if there 
is an expectation the funds will be used for a particular 
purpose. This will ordinarily take the form of an approval of the 
expenditure by the Trustee. They are recognised in expenditure 
and in the balance sheet under the heading ‘Commitments’, 
split between current and non-current categories.

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the 
charity but do not directly undertake charitable activities. 
Support costs include back office costs, finance, payroll and 
governance costs which support the Charity. These costs have 
been allocated across the charitable activities. The basis on 
which support costs have been allocated are set out in note 3.2.

Governance costs are accounted for an accruals basis, they 
include Statutory Audit fees and a recharge from MFT for 
Trustee and management time devoted to the charity. 

The Charity is exempt from direct taxation on its commercial 
activities as they are ancillary charitable trading and fall within 
the provisions of section 505 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988. Therefore, the Charity pays no tax on dividend 
and interest income it receives.

1.5 Structure of funds

In broad terms, a charity’s funds are either restricted  
or unrestricted.

a)  Restricted Funds

Restricted income funds are funds that can only be 
applied for particular purposes within their objects –  
for example, where the donor has specified a  
donation should be spent in furthering a particular 
charitable purpose.

b) Unrestricted Funds

i)  An unrestricted income fund includes funds which the 
Trustee is free to use for any purpose in furtherance of  
the charitable objects, known as the General Fund. 

ii)  Unrestricted funds also include designated funds, where 
the donor has made known their non-binding wishes or 
where the Trustee, at its discretion, has created a fund for 
a specific purpose. The Charity’s major designations are 
disclosed in note 9. The Trustees have the power to  
re-designate such funds within unrestricted funds. 

The Charity has both a General Purpose fund and 
designated funds.

1.6 Transfers between funds

A transfer between funds is made only if it is appropriately 
approved (by the Fund holder or Charitable Funds 
Committee) and does not contravene the wishes of  
the donor.

1.7 Fixed assets investments

Investments are stated at market value as at the date of the 
Balance Sheet; values have been provided by the respective 
Fund Managers. The statement of financial activities 
includes net gains and losses arising on the revaluation  
and disposals throughout the years.

The Charity has investment portfolio assets which are  
included in the Balance Sheet at the closing market value  
on 31st March 2020.
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2.2 Other donation

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted funds 
total  

2018/19
Total  

2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Transfer from Pennine Care NHS FT 177 0 177 0 0 0

Total income from transfer 177 0 177 0 0 0

On 01/10/2019, Pennine Acute transferred the Trafford Local Care Organisation funds to the Manchester University NHS 
Foundation Trust Charity following the transfer of services to Manchester University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  
on 01/10/2019.

2.3 Investment Income

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted  
funds total  

2018/19
Total  

2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dividend income 368 197 565 195 189 384

Bank account interest 29 0 29 21 8 29

Total investment income 397 197 594 216 197 413

2. Income from donations and legacies

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 ORC 
restricted 

funds total 
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2018/19 

 ORC 
restricted 

funds total 
2018/19 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted funds  
total 2018/19 

Total  
2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Donations 320 0 69 389 249 319 181 750

Legacies 1,440 67 358 1,865 832 630 293 1,755

Grants receivable 136 0 187 323 14 0 110 125

Total income from donations 
and legacies

1,896 67 614 2,577 1,096 949 585 2,630

There are no legacies excluded from the Statement of Financial of Activities because they have not met the criteria of 
recognition as set out in the SORP.

The Charity recognises gifts in kind in the Statement of Financial Activities if the recognition criteria in 1.3a and 1.3c of the 
Accounting Policies are met. In 2019/2020, the Charity received £267k (£163k in 2018/2019) worth of gifts, which are 
included in the category ‘Donations’. The Charity has received no donated services or facilities in 2019/2020 or 2018/2019.

2.1 Income from fundraising activities

ORC 
unrestricted 

funds 
2019/20

 ORC  
restricted 

funds total 
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2018/19

 ORC  
restricted 

funds total 
2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted  
funds total  

2018/19
Total  

2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Special project events 381 0 0 381 398 0 0 398

Sporting events 307 0 25 332 400 0 31 431

Corporate 555 0 0 555 1,663 76 7 1,746

Community events 504 0 23 527 523 0 53 576

Christmas 21 0 0 21 4 0 1 5

Schools 66 0 0 66 144 0 0 144

Merchandise 6 0 0 6 6 0 0 6

Training fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Miscellaneous sales 919 2,109 102 3,130 1,444 0 0 1,444

Total income from 
fundraising activities

2,759 2,109 150 5,018 4,582 76 92 4,750

1.13  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Charity’s accounting policies, 
which are described in notes 1.1 to 1.13, the Trustee is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

The Trustee does not consider there are any critical 
judgements or sources of estimation uncertainty requiring 
disclosure beyond the accounting policies listed above.
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3. Analysis of expenditure on raising funds

ORC 
unrestricted 

funds 
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds 2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 

funds 
2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted funds 
2018/19

Total  
2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fundraising activities 151 0 151 50 0 50

Advertising/marketing 382 0 382 177 0 177

Accommodation and administration costs 130 0 130 120 26 146

Subscriptions 4 0 4 6 0 6

Other 5 0 5 0 0 0

Fundraising team 945 0 945 844 17 861

Investment management fees 38 39 77 13 58 71

1,655 39 1,694 1,211 101 1,312

Support costs 320 112 432 323 29 352

Total 1,975 151 2,126 1,534 130 1,664

3.1 Analysis of expenditure on charitable activities

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2019/20

 ORC 
restricted 

funds total  
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds total  

2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 
funds total 

2018/19

 ORC 
restricted 

funds total  
2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted  
fundtotal  
2018/19

Total  
2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Activity

Clinical care and research posts 1,431 3 276 1,710 733 34 238 1,005

Patient education, welfare & 
amenities

894 0 54 948 823 56 108 987

Staff welfare, education & 
amenities

1,203 0 204 1,407 316 0 83 399

New building & refurbishment 383 560 (16) 927 147 316 56 519

Purchase of medical equipment 409 0 458 867 2,169 11 297 2,477

Purchase of IT and computer 
equipment

140 0 3 143 41 0 20 61

Purchase of new equipment 343 0 (16) 327 585 (1) 155 739

Total 4,803 563 963 6,329 4,815 416 956 6,187

The negative values relate to the release of prior year commitments.

3.2 Analysis of total expenditure

ORC 2019/20 Wythenshawe Hospital 2019/20

Direct costs

 Grant 
funding of 

activities Governance Finance Sub-Total Direct costs

 Grant 
funding of 

activities Governance Finance Sub-Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure on raising 
funds

1,655 0 46 274 1,975 39 0 (4) 116 151 2,126 

Expenditure on charitable 
activities

Clinical care and research 
posts

0 1,434 0 0 1,434 0 276 0 0 276 1,710 

Patient education, welfare  
& amenities

0 894 0 0 894 0 54 0 0 54 948 

Staff welfare, education  
& amenities

0 1,203 0 0 1,203 0 204 0 0 204 1,407 

New building & refurbishment 0 943 0 0 943 0 (16) 0 0 (16) 927 

Purchase of medical 
equipment

0 409 0 0 409 0 458 0 0 458 867 

Purchase of IT and computer 
equipment

0 140 0 0 140 0 3 0 0 3 143 

Purchase of new equipment 0 343 0 0 343 0 (16) 0 0 (16) 327 

Total expenditure on 
charitable activities

0 5,366 0 0 5,366 0 963 0 0 963 6,329 

Total expenditure 1,655 5,366 46 274 7,341 39 963 (4) 116 1,114 8,455 

ORC 2018/19 Wythenshawe Hospital 2018/19

Direct costs

 Grant 
funding of 

activities Governance Finance Sub-Total Direct costs

 Grant 
funding of 

activities Governance Finance Sub-Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure on raising 
funds

1,342 0 12 180 1,534 130 0 0 0 130 1,664

Expenditure on charitable 
activities

Clinical care and research 
posts

0 767 0 0 767 0 238 0 0 238 1,005

Patient education, welfare  
& amenities

0 880 0 0 880 0 108 0 0 108 987

Staff welfare, education  
& amenities

0 316 0 0 316 0 83 0 0 83 399

New building & refurbishment 0 464 0 0 464 0 56 0 0 56 519

Purchase of medical 
equipment

0 2,180 0 0 2,180 0 297 0 0 297 2,477

Purchase of IT and computer 
equipment

0 41 0 0 41 0 20 0 0 20 61

Purchase of new equipment 0 584 0 0 584 0 155 0 0 155 739

Total expenditure on 
charitable activities

0 5,231 0 0 5,231 0 956 0 0 956 6,186

Total expenditure 1,342 5,231 12 180 6,764 130 956 0 0 1,086 7,850
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Support costs, incorporating Finance and Governance, are apportioned across charitable activities on the basis of 
expenditure incurred in relation to each category.

The charity accounted for £10.8k for audit fees in 2019/2020 (2018/2019 £10.8k), payable to Mazars LLP. No other 
services were received from Mazars LLP . Net expenditure of £2,126k on raising funds (expenditure of £1,664k in 
2018/2019) as reported in the SOFA includes the charge for audit fees. The audit fee is included within Governance Costs 
in both 2019/2020 and 2018/2019.

Grants were made to Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT). No grants were made to individuals.

3.3 Analysis of staff costs, Trustee remuneration and expenses, and the cost of key management personnel

Staff costs and cost of key management personnel

All staff engaged in the activities of the Charity are employed by Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT).  
The Charity therefore employs no staff, but is recharged for individuals time spent engaged in either charitable activities, 
raising funds or by providing support (e.g. back office functions) to the Charity. 

Trustees’ Expenses and Remuneration 

During the year ended 31st March 2020, neither the Trustees nor the key management staff, nor parties related to them, 
undertook any transactions with Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust Charity or received any benefit from the 
Charity or payment in kind (2018/2019: £nil).

4. Tangible assets
31st March  

2020
31st March  

2019

£000 £000

Asset cost:

Balance brought forward 127 127

Balance carried forward 127 127

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance brought forward (44) (33)

Charge for year (11) (11)

Balance carried forward (55) (44)

Net book value:

Brought forward 83 94

Carried forward 72 83

The closing net book value is made up of fixtures and fittings (£72k) used for the purpose of generating funds for the charity. 
The tangible assets relate to Oxford Road Campus only.

5. Fixed asset investments: Movements in funds
ORC 

unrestricted 
funds 

2019/20

 ORC 
restricted 

funds  
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
funds 2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
unrestricted 

funds 
2018/19

 ORC 
restricted 

funds  
2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted funds 
2018/19

Total  
2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Market value at 1st April 2019 10,891 2,925 5,738 19,554 10,531 2,925 5,555 19,011

Transfer to / from restricted funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Management fees 0 0 (38) (38) 0 0 (30) (30)

Unrealised gain / (loss) on 
revaluation 

(831) 0 (238) (1,069) 360 0 212 573

Market Value at  
31st March 2020

10,060 2,925 5,462 18,447 10,891 2,925 5,738 19,554

The valuations of the Charity’s investments at 31st March 2020 have been provided by the two investment companies used 
to manage the funds; Brewin Dolphin and Sarasin & Partners.

The charity has invested surplus funds for the purpose of generating a financial return. The entity has not invested in any 
external bodies which are involved in the activities of the Charity.

5.1 Fixed assets at 31st March 2020

ORC 
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20

ORC 
2018/19 
Restated

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
2018/19 
Restated

Total  
2018/19 
Restated

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

All listed investments are held in the U.K.

UK equities 3,214 964 4,178 3,253 1,584 4,837

Fixed income 0 747 747 0 800 800

UK bonds 3,073 0 3,073 3,681 0 3,681

Overseas bonds 350 0 350 0 0 0

Global equities 4,418 2,707 7,125 4,668 2,270 6,938

Property 604 176 780 719 536 1,255

Alternative investments 1,111 542 1,653 1,248 248 1,496

Liquid assets 212 326 538 243 299 542

Leasehold 3 0 3 3 0 3

Total 12,985 5,462 18,447 13,816 5,738 19,554

2018/19 balances have been restated as £802k of global equity investments had been misclassified as UK equity investments

5.2 Historic cost of listed investments and movement in revaluation reserve

ORC 
2019/20

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
2019/20

 
Total  

2019/20
ORC 

2018/19

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 

restricted 
2018/19

Total  
2018/19

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Historic cost 11,453 4,737 16,190 11,453 4,737 16,190

Market value of investments at 31st March 2020 12,985 5,462 18,447 13,816 5,738 19,554

Balance of Revaluation Reserve 1,532 725 2,257 2,363 1,001 3,364
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6. Analysis of debtors

Current

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 Total  
31st March 

2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 25 67 92 0 0 0 

NHS debtors 0 0 0 11 0 11 

Provision for irrecoverable debts 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Prepayments 1 18 19 0 18 18 

Accrued income 132 0 132 378 1 379 

Other debtors 550 0 550 548 1 549 

Total debtors falling due within one year 708 85  793 937 20 957 

Debtors are amounts due to the Charity. They are measured on the basis of their recoverable amount.

£000

Debtors at 31st March 2020 include:

Helipad Construction – Stoller Trust 400

RMCH Diabetes – Wolfson Trust 150

Legacy Income 130

7. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 
Total  

31st March 
2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 6,113 1,446 7,559 3,462 2,088 5,550
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8. Analysis of creditors

Current Note

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 
Total  

31st March 
2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade creditors 2,274 0 2,274 403 3 405

Accruals 279 51 330 31 20 51

Deferred income 0 0 0 0 0 0

Accruals for commitments 8.1 6,450 668 7,118 6,191 940 7,131

Total creditors falling due within one year 9,003 719 9,722 6,625 962 7,587

The figure disclosed above relates to costs due not yet paid for goods or services received on or before 31st March 2020.

Non-current Note

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 
Total  

31st March 
2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Accruals for commitments 8.1 213 0 213 244 219 463

Total creditors falling due within one year 213 0 213 244 219 463
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8.1 Accruals for commitments payable

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 
Total  

31st March 
2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Opening balance 6,436 1,159 7,595 6,343 1,240 7,583

Committed in year 4,232 37 4,269 3,450 556 4,006

Released in the year (239) (64) (303) 0 0 0

Paid in year (3,766) (464) (4,230) (3,357) (637) (3,994)

Closing balance 6,663 668 7,331 6,436 1,159 7,595

Expected timing of cash flows

ORC 
31st March 

2020

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2020

 
Total  

31st March 
2020

ORC 
31st March 

2019

Wythenshawe 
Hospital  

31st March 
2019

Total  
31st March 

2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Not later than one year 6,450 668 7,118 6,191 940 7,131

Later than one year and not later than five years 213 0 213 244 219 463

Total accruals for grants payable 6,663 668 7,331 6,436 1,159 7,595
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9. Fund balances by hospital/area – 2019/20

Hospital/
area

Total funds at  
31st March 

2019 Income Expenditure
Gains and 

(losses)

Transfers 
between 

funds

Total funds at  
31st March 

2020

Unrestricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2020

Restricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2020
Number of 

funds

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Royal Manchester 
Children's Hospital

1,473 957 (463) 0 410 2,377 2,377 0 68 

Clinical & Scientific 
Services

598 71 (175) 0 85 579 579 0 44 

University Dental 
Hospital of Manchester

133 2 (4) 0 (70) 61 61 0 2 

Manchester Royal  
Eye Hospital

557 5 (117) 0 317 762 762 0 14 

Manchester & Trafford 
Local Care Organisation

58 187 (24) 0 0 221 221 0 11 

Manchester Royal 
Infirmary

913 146 (68) 0 261 1,252 1,252 0 42 

Research and 
Innovation

1,874 127 (38) 0 (200) 1,763 1,763 0 46 

Saint Mary's Hospital 875 235 (314) 0 267 1,063 1,063 0 41 

Trafford General 
Hospital

176 33 (8) 0 12 212 212 0 17 

Corporate / Trust Wide 4,773 5,642 (6,499) (831) (713) 2,372 (1,867) 4,239 51 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Centrally Held Funds 

149 0 20 0 1,764 1,933 0 1,933 7 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Clinical Support 

242 23 12 0 (58) 219 0 219 27 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Corporate

3,333 266 (400) (238) (1,889) 1,072 0 1,072 20 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Education 

20 0 0 0 0 20 0 20 1 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Research and 
Development 

5 0 1 0 75 81 0 81 3 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Scheduled Care 

1,195 350 (229) 0 (230) 1,086 0 1,086 62 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
Unscheduled Care 

1,721 322 (149) 0 (31) 1,863 0 1,863 70 

Total Funds 18,094 8,366 (8,455) (1,069) 0 16,936 6,423 10,513 526 

The decrease in the total number of funds is due to the closure and merging of stagnant funds during the year.
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9. Fund balances by hospital/area – 2018/19

Hospital/
area

Total funds 
at 31st 

March 2018 
Represented

Income 
Represented

Expenditure 
Represented

Gains and 
(losses) 

Represented

Transfers 
between 

funds 
Represented

Total funds 
at 31st 

March 2019 
Represented

Unrestricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2019 
Represented

Restricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2019 
Represented

Number of 
funds 

Represented

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Royal Manchester 
Children's Hospital

1,400 1,154 (1,347) 0 266 1,473 1,473 0 62 

Clinical & Scientific 
Services

585 31 132 0 (150) 598 598 0 53 

University Dental 
Hospital of 
Manchester

21 2 140 0 (30) 133 133 0 13 

Manchester Royal  
Eye Hospital

399 5 186 0 (33) 557 557 0 15 

Manchester & 
Trafford Local Care 
Organisation 

59 3 (4) 0 0 58 58 0 7 

Manchester Royal 
Infirmary

1,840 55 (962) 0 (20) 913 913 0 37 

Research and 
Innovation

1,683 417 (376) 0 150 1,874 1,874 0 69 

Saint Mary's Hospital 1,070 145 (302) 0 (38) 875 875 0 34 

Trafford General 
Hospital

250 23 (65) 0 (32) 176 176 0 26 

Trust Wide / 
Corporate

3,575 5,085 (4,135) 360 (112) 4,773 2,147 2,626 44 

Custodian Funds 31 0 (31) 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Centrally 
Held Funds 

149 0 (50) 0 50 149 0 149 8 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Clinical 
Support 

242 32 (32) 0 0 242 0 242 34 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Corporate

3,333 435 (598) 213 (50) 3,333 0 3,333 20 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Education 

20 0 0 0 0 20 0 20 2 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Research 
and Development 

5 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 1 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital Scheduled 
Care 

1,195 254 (254) 0 0 1,195 0 1,195 76 

Wythenshawe 
Hospital 
Unscheduled Care 

1,721 152 (152) 0 0 1,721 0 1,721 70 

Total Funds 17,578 7,793 (7,850) 573 0 18,094 8,803 9,291 571 

Fund balance information for 2018/2019 has been represented to summarise balances by hospital/division.

9.1 Details of material funds

A fund is deemed material if the balance at 31st March 2020 is over £250k. Funds over this threshold are detailed below:

Fund name

Total  
funds at  

31st March  
 2019 Income Expenditure

Gains and 
(losses)

Transfers 
between 

funds

Total  
funds at 

 31st March 
2020

Unrestricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2020

Restricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

iMRI Scanner – RMCH ** 1,716 2,109 0 0 0 3,825 0 3,825 

RMCH Fundraising 1,870 2,504 0 0 (555) 3,819 3,819 0 

Specific Purpose Legacy 
Income*

2,577 (14) (13) 0 0 2,550 0 2,550 

ORC Funds realised gain 2,363 0 0 (831) 0 1,532 0 1,532 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
investment reserve – General 
Purpose

968 0 0 0 0 968 0 968 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
investment reserve – Research

742 0 0 0 0 742 0 742 

Manchester Royal Eye Hospital 
Fundraising

778 164 0 0 (300) 642 642 0 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
unrealised gain

558 121 (93) (142) 0 444 0 444 

Fundraising costs 363 13 (1,482) 0 1,491 385 385 0 

Ward 84 Children's Cancer 
Priority Fund

256 220 0 0 (61) 415 415 0 

MRI Surgical General Purposes 347 0 (45) 0 0 302 302 0 

Manchester Royal Eye Hospital 
General Purpose

326 0 (28) 0 0 298 298 0 

RMCH 10th Anniversary 0 403 (91) 0 (15) 297 297 0 
Wythenshawe Hospital Cystic 
Fibrosis

265 44 (33) 0 (1) 275 0 0 

MRI Main Renal Unit Fund 255 1 (5) 0 0 251 251 0 

Helipad Appeal 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250 
Wythenshawe Hospital 
unrealised gain – Research

301 61 0 (80) (45) 237 0 237 

*  The ‘specific purpose legacy’ fund contains legacy bequests for which a specific purpose has been identified in the will 
document and therefore the funds have been restricted.

** iMRI Scanner RMCH was previously reported under RMCH Fundraising. This has been disaggregated from 1/4/2019.
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Fund Balances over £250k – 2018/19

Fund name

Total  
funds at  

31st March  
 2018 Income Expenditure

Gains and 
(losses)

Transfers 
between 

funds

Total  
funds at  

31st March 
2019

Unrestricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2019

Restricted 
funds at 31st 

March 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

RMCH Fundraising 2,003 2,912 (822) 0 (507) 3,586 3,586 0 

Special Purpose Legacy 
Income*

1,996 630 (49) 0 0 2,577 0 2,577 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
investment reserve –  
General Purpose

968 0 0 0 0 968 0 968 

Manchester Royal Eye Hospital 
Fundraising

329 449 0 0 0 778 778 0 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
investment reserve – Research

742 0 0 0 0 742 0 742 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
unrealised gain

440 124 (81) 98 (23) 558 0 558 

Fundraising Costs 63 13 (1,135) 0 1,421 363 363 0 

MRI Surgical General Purposes 398 0 (51) 0 0 347 347 0 

Wythenshawe Hospital 
unrealised gain – Research

229 59 (52) 66 0 301 0 301 

Wythenshawe Hospital  
Cystic Fibrosis

281 14 (29) 0 0 265 0 265 

Ward 84 Childrens Cancer 
Priority Fund

184 114 (42) 0 0 256 256 0 

MRI Main Renal Unit Fund 17 238 0 0 0 255 255 0 

*  The ‘specific purpose legacy’ fund contains legacy bequests for which a specific purpose has been identified in the will 
document and therefore the funds have been restricted.

10. Related party transactions
The Charity works closely with, and provides the majority of its grants, to the Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust (MFT). 
The Charity Trustee constitutes the members of the Trust Board. During the financial year, the Charity committed £4,269k 
(£4,006k in 2018/2019) to MFT in furtherance of its objectives. The Charity had an amount of £2,274k owed to MFT at  
31st March 2020 (£259k at 31st March 2019).

The Charity leases property from Bruntwood 2000 Holdings Limited and paid £123k (£87k in 2018/2019). There were 
nil amounts owed to Bruntwood 2000 Holdings Ltd at 31st March 2020 (£nil at 31st March 2019). One Non-Executive 
Director member of the MFT Board is MFT’s nominated Director for Manchester Science Partnerships Limited which is 
majority owned by Bruntwood 2000 Holdings Ltd.

11. Post balance sheet events 
There were no events following the Balance sheet date, either requiring disclosure, or resulting in a change to the financial 
statements of the Charity.

12. Operating lease commitments
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:

2019/20
2018/19  
restated*

£000 £000

Within one year 139 89

Between one and five years 432 358

After five years 0 25

571 472

The Charity Fundraising Team occupy the ground floor of the Citylabs, Maurice Watkins building. The lease is for a 
duration of 15 years, starting from August 2014. It has a ‘Break in Lease’ option in July 2024.

The lease allows for rents to be reviewed at five yearly intervals. A rent review that took place during 2019/2020 resulted 
in a rental increase effective from 11th July 2019. The effect of this rent review is included within this note.

* The lease commitments for 2018/19 have been restated to reflect the break in lease option in July 2024.
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Registered Charity number and name ...............................................1049274 
.........................................................................................................Manchester University NHS  
.........................................................................................................Foundation Trust Charity

Address of Registered Charity ...........................................................Cobbett House 
.........................................................................................................Manchester Royal Infirmary 
.........................................................................................................Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9WL 
.........................................................................................................Tel: 0161 276 4915

Director of Charities ..........................................................................Mrs Sarah Naismith 
.........................................................................................................Tel: 0161 276 6199 
.........................................................................................................sarah.naismith@mft.nhs.uk

Operational Finance Director .............................................................Mrs Rachel McIlwraith  
.........................................................................................................Tel: 0161 537 2455 
.........................................................................................................rachel.mcilwraith@mft.nhs.uk

Chief Accountant ..............................................................................Mrs Sharon Hassall  
.........................................................................................................Tel: 0161 537 2341  
.........................................................................................................sharon.hassall@mft.nhs.uk

Banker ..............................................................................................Barclays Bank plc 
.........................................................................................................Manchester City Office 
.........................................................................................................PO Box 357, 51 Mosley Street,  
.........................................................................................................Manchester M60 2AU

Solicitor* ..........................................................................................Hempsons 
.........................................................................................................Portland Tower,  
.........................................................................................................Portland Street, 
.........................................................................................................Manchester M1 3LF

External Auditor ................................................................................Mazars 
.........................................................................................................One St Peter’s Square 
.........................................................................................................Manchester M2 3DE

Internal Auditor ................................................................................KPMG  
.........................................................................................................One St Peter’s Square 
.........................................................................................................Manchester M2 3DE

* Legal advisors are appointed on a case by case basis

 
Contact details for the Charity,  
Trustee and Advisers
As a sole corporate Trustee, the names of the directors are required to be disclosed:
Group Chairman ...............................................................................Mrs Kathy Cowell OBE DL
Group Deputy Chairman ...................................................................Mr Barry Clare
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Mr John Amaechi OBE
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Professor Dame Sue Bailey OBE DBE
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Dr Ivan Benett
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Professor Luke Georghiou
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Mr Nicholas Gower
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Mrs Christine McLoughlin
Group Non-Executive Director ...........................................................Mr Trevor Rees
Group Chief Executive ......................................................................Sir Michael Deegan CBE
Group Deputy Chief Executive ..........................................................Mrs Gill Heaton OBE
Group Chief Operating Officer ..........................................................Mrs Julia Bridgewater
Group Chief Nurse ............................................................................Professor Cheryl Lenney
Executive Director of Workforce and Corporate Business  ........................Mr Peter Blythin 
(appointed 1/4/19)
Joint Group Medical Director................................................................Professor Jane Eddleston
.........................................................................................................Miss Toli Onon
Group Chief Finance Officer.................................................................Ms Jenny Ehrhardt 
(from May 2020)
Group Director of Strategy ...................................................................Mr Darren Banks

Charity Fundraising Board members:
Chairman ..........................................................................................Mr Maurice Watkins CBE
Deputy Chairman ..............................................................................Mr David Cain
.........................................................................................................Mrs Rachael Flintoff 
.........................................................................................................Mr Paul Horrocks DL
.........................................................................................................Mrs Gail Jones
.........................................................................................................Prof Danny Keenan
.........................................................................................................Mr Pawan Koshla
.........................................................................................................Mr Akeel Malik
.........................................................................................................Mr Amit Ruia
.........................................................................................................Ms Carol Smith
.........................................................................................................Mr Rajiv Taneja

Charity Ambassadors:
.........................................................................................................Mrs Tanya Bardsley
.........................................................................................................Mrs Veena Chandi 
.........................................................................................................Mrs Hannah Howley 
.........................................................................................................Ms Kate Lowe
.........................................................................................................Mrs Rebecca Meyrick 
.........................................................................................................Mrs Julie Neville
.........................................................................................................Ms Jane Sharrocks
.........................................................................................................Sir Warren Smith JP Her Majesty’s Lord-Lieutenant of Greater Manchester
.........................................................................................................Ms Jemma Steele
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